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02     RHT HEALTH TRUST

The Directors of RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. as the Trustee-Manager of RHT Health Trust (the “Trust”) present their report 
to the Unitholders of the Trust, together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Trust and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of changes in Unitholders’ funds of the Trust for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Trustee-Manager in office at the date of this report are:

Tan Bong Lin
Dr Ronnie Tan Keh Poo 
Dr Wong Chiang Yin 
Loh Min Jiann
Ashish Bhatia

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE UNITS OR DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Trustee-Manager a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable any Director or all Directors of the Trustee-Manager to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
units in, or debentures, of the Trust.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN UNITS OR DEBENTURES

No Director who held office at the end of the financial year was interested in units in, or debentures of, the Trust, or both, either 
at the beginning of the financial year, at his date of appointment, or at the end of financial year according to the register kept 
by the Trustee-Manager for the purposes of Sections 13 and 76 of the Business Trusts Act 2004 of Singapore (the “Act”).

OPTIONS

There were no options granted during the financial year by the Trustee-Manager to any person to acquire unissued units in 
the Trust.

No units have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to acquire unissued units of the Trust.

There were no unissued units of the Trust under options at the end of the financial year.

REPORT OF THE
TRUSTEE-MANAGER
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) of the Trustee-Manager during the financial year and 
as at the date of this report are as follows:

Dr Ronnie Tan Keh Poo		  Chairman	
Ashish Bhatia 
Tan Bong Lin
Dr Wong Chiang Yin

All members of the ARMC are Non-executive Directors and the majority of the members are independent.

The ARMC carried out its functions in accordance with Regulation 13(6) of the Business Trusts Regulations of Singapore. In 
performing its functions, the ARMC has reviewed (among others):

•	 with the independent internal and external auditors of the Trust, the audit plan of the Group, the independent internal 
auditor’s evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls of the Group and the independent external auditor’s 
report on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year;

•	 the assistance given by the officers of the Trustee-Manager to the independent auditor of the Trust, the scope and results 
of the internal audit procedures of the Group, the policies and practices put in place by the Trustee-Manager to ensure 
compliance with the Act and the Trust Deed dated 29 July 2011 constituting the Trust, as amended and restated (the 
“Trust Deed”), the procedures put in place by the Trustee-Manager for managing any conflict that may arise between 
the interests of Unitholders and the interests of the Trustee-Manager (including interested person transactions, the 
indemnification of expenses or liabilities incurred by the Trustee-Manager and the setting of fees or charges payable out 
of the trust property of the Trust); and

•	 the balance sheet and statement of changes in Unitholders’ funds of the Trust and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 before their submission to the Board of Directors of the Trustee-
Manager.

The ARMC has full access to and had the co-operation of the Trustee-Manager and has been given the resources required for 
it to discharge its function properly. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its 
meetings. The ARMC also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit 
fees.

The ARMC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the independent auditors to the Group, is satisfied that the nature 
and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the independent auditors. The ARMC has recommended 
to the Board of Directors of the Trustee- Manager that the independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Unitholders.

REPORT OF THE
TRUSTEE-MANAGER
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023



04     RHT HEALTH TRUST

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as independent auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager:

Tan Bong Lin
Director

Loh Min Jiann
Director

Singapore
07 July 2023

REPORT OF THE
TRUSTEE-MANAGER
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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In our opinion,

(a)	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income set out on pages 11 and 12 have been drawn up so as to give a 
true and fair view of the results of the business of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023;

(b)	 the balance sheets have been drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the 
Group as at 31 March 2023;

(c)	 the statement of changes in Unitholders’ funds set out on pages 14 and 15 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view 
of the changes in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the Trust for the year ended 31 March 2023;

(d)	 the consolidated cash flow statement set out on page 16 has been drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the cash 
flow of the business of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023; and

(e)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trustee-Manager will be able to fulfil out 
of the trust property of the Trust, its liabilities in respect of the Trust as and when they fall due.

In accordance with the Act, we further certify:

(a)	 the fees or charges paid or payable out of the trust property of the Trust to the Trustee-Manager are in accordance with 
the Trust Deed of the Trust;

(b)	 interested person transactions are not detrimental to the interests of the Unitholders of the Trust as a whole based on the 
circumstances at the time of the transaction; and

(c)	 the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager is not aware of any violation of duties of the Trustee-Manager which would 
have a materially adverse effect on the business of the Trust or on the interests of the Unitholders of the Trust as a whole.

The Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager has, on the date of this statement, authorised the above statements and these 
financial statements of the Group as at and for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager:

Tan Bong Lin
Director

Loh Min Jiann
Director

Singapore
07 July 2023

STATEMENT BY THE
TRUSTEE-MANAGER
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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In accordance with Section 86(3) of the Act, I certify that I am not aware of any violation of duties of the Trustee-Manager which 
would have a materially adverse effect on the business of the Trust or on the interests of all the Unitholders of the Trust as a 
whole.

Tan Kang Fun
Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
07 July 2023

STATEMENT BY THE  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of RHT Health Trust (constituted in the Republic of Singapore pursuant to the Trust 
Deed) (the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets of the 
Group and the Trust as at 31 March 2023, the statements of changes in Unitholders’ funds equity of the Group and the Trust 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the balance sheet and the statement of 
changes in Unitholders’ funds of the Trust are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Business 
Trusts Act 2004 (the “Act”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2023 and of the consolidated 
financial performance, consolidated changes in Unitholders’ funds and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in 
Unitholders’ funds of the Trust for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code 
of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, 
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our 
audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion 
on the accompanying financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO  
THE UNITHOLDERS OF RHT HEALTH TRUST
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Key Audit Matter (cont’d)

Contingent liabilities on withholding taxes

As set out in Note 24, the Group has disclosed a contingent liability arising from a potential tax exposure on withholding taxes 
of S$0.67 million as at the financial year ended of 31 March 2023.

As discussed more fully in that note, the withholding taxes arose from the fees paid to an Indian tax resident bank in relation 
to the termination of bank loan and swap arrangements on the disposal of the Group’s entire asset portfolio in the previous 
financial year. The Trustee-Manager is of the opinion after consultation with its tax advisor that as the local tax authority has 
not agreed on the Trustee- Manager’s treatment, there remains a possible obligation that the Group is required to pay the 
withholding tax on these payments.

We have identified this matter as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the Trustee-Manager on 
the evaluation of the uncertainty whether withholding tax would be payable and on the assessment of the quantum of the 
potential tax exposure.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, discussion with the Trustee-Manager to understand the considerations made 
in their assessment and review of the correspondences between the Group’s tax advisor and the local tax authority. We also 
evaluated the Trustee-Manager’s basis and assessment with the help of our internal tax specialist. In addition, we reviewed and 
checked the arithmetical accuracy of the computation of the contingent liability; and assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
on this matter in Note 24 to the financial statements.

Contingent liability on capital gains 

As set out in Note 24, the Group has disclosed a contingent liability arising from a potential tax exposure on capital gains as at 
the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

As discussed more fully in that note, the potential tax exposure arose from capital gains in relation to the sale of Compulsory 
Convertible Debentures (“CCDs”) by the Group’s subsidiary, THR Infrastructure Pte. Ltd, during the financial year ended 31 
March 2017. The final order pronounced by Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (“ITAT”) ruling on 12 May 2023 stated the matter 
has been in the Group’s favour. However, the Trustee-Manager is of the opinion after consultation with its tax advisor that since 
the revenue authority can appeal the ITAT order within a period of 120 days from date of receipt of the order, there remains a 
possible obligation that the Group is required to pay tax on these capital gains.

We have identified this matter as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the Trustee-Manager on the 
evaluation of the uncertainty whether the tax would be payable.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, discussion with the Trustee-Manager to understand the considerations made 
in their assessment and review of the correspondences between the Group’s tax advisor and the local tax authorities. We also 
evaluated the Trustee-Manager’s basis and assessment with the help of our internal tax specialist. In addition, we reviewed and 
checked the arithmetical accuracy of the computation of the contingent liability; and assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
on this matter in Note 24 to the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO  
THE UNITHOLDERS OF RHT HEALTH TRUST
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Other Information

The Trustee-Manager is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
general information, report of the Trustee-Manager and statement by the Trustee-Manager.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager for the Financial Statements

RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd., the Trustee-Manager of the Trust, is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and IFRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system 
of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit 
the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustee-Manager is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustee-Manager’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO  
THE UNITHOLDERS OF RHT HEALTH TRUST
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Trustee-Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Trustee-Manager with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Trustee-Manager, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Trust and by those subsidiary corporations 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 1967.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Briston Loo.

Ernst & Young LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore
07 July 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO  
THE UNITHOLDERS OF RHT HEALTH TRUST
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Note 2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Total revenue – 1

Expenses:

Trustee-Manager fees 4 (90) (90)

Other trust expenses (601) (574)

Finance income 5 226 33

Finance expenses 6 (29) (3)

Foreign exchange loss – –

Total expenses (494) (634)

Loss before tax 7 (494) (633)

Income tax credit 8 – 4

Loss for the year representing loss after taxes for the year  
attributable to Unitholders of the Trust (494) (629)

* Amount is less than $1,000

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Note 2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (494) (629)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to  
Unitholders of the Trust (494) (629)

Earnings per unit attributable to  
Unitholders of the Trust, expressed in cents per unit

-	 Basic and diluted 9 (0.06) (0.08)

Earnings per unit attributable to Unitholders of the Trust,  
expressed in cents per unit

-	 Basic and diluted 9 (0.06) (0.08)

Attributable to:

Unitholders of the Trust

Total comprehensive income, net of taxes representing total comprehensive 
income for the year attributable to Unitholders of the Trust (494) (629)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Group Trust

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Non-current asset

Investment in subsidiaries 10 – – 12,634 12,634

Total non-current asset – – 12,634 12,634

Current assets

Financial assets 11 2 4 1 2

Other assets 13 227 222 220 216

Restricted cash 14 2,993 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 14 13,528 16,899 12,984 13,320

Total current assets 16,750 17,125 13,205 13,538

Total assets 16,750 17,125 25,839 26,172

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Other liabilities 15 1,577 1,458 293,040 293,484

Total current liabilities 1,577 1,458 293,040 293,484

Net current assets/(liabilities) 15,173 15,667 (279,835) (279,946)

Total liabilities 1,577 1,458 293,040 293,484

Net assets/(liabilities) 15,173 15,667 (267,201) (267,312)

UNITHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Units in issue 16 522,247 522,247 522,247 522,247

Capital reserve 17 210,216 210,216 – –

Accumulated losses (717,290) (716,796) (789,448) (789,559)

Total Unitholders’ funds 15,173 15,667 (267,201) (267,312)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 March 2023
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Group

Units in
issue

(Note 16)
Capital
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 April 2021 522,247 210,216 (716,167) 16,296

Loss for the year, representing total  
comprehensive income for the year – – (629) (629)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 522,247 210,216 (716,796) 15,667

Loss for the year, representing total  
comprehensive income for the year – – (494) (494)

At 31 March 2023 522,247 210,216 (717,290) 15,173

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES  
IN UNITHOLDERS’ FUNDS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Units in
issue

(Note 16)
Accumulated 

losses Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Trust

At 1 April 2021 522,247 (789,043) (266,796)

Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive  
income for the financial year – (516) (516)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 522,247 (789,559) (267,312)

Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive  
income for the financial year – 111 111

At 31 March 2023 522,247 (789,448) (267,201)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES  
IN UNITHOLDERS’ FUNDS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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Note 2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Loss before tax (494) (633)

Adjustments for:

Finance income 5 (226) (33)

Finance expenses 6 29 3

Operating cash flow before working capital changes (691) (663)

Changes in working capital:

Increase in financial assets and other assets (5) (41)

Increase in other liabilities 90 221

Cash flow used in operations (606) (483)

Interest received 228 31

Tax refund – 4

Net cash used in operating activities (378) (448)

Cash flow used in investing activities

Restricted cash (2,993) –

Net cash used in investing activities (2,993) –

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,371) (448)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16,899 17,347

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 13,528 16,899

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED  
CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

RHT Health Trust (the “Trust” or “RHT”) is a business trust registered with the Monetary Authority of Singapore and 
domiciled in Singapore. The Trust was constituted by the Trust Deed and is regulated by the Business Trusts Act 2004 of 
Singapore. Under the Trust Deed, RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. (the “Trustee-Manager”) has declared that it will 
hold all the assets (including businesses) acquired on trust for the Unitholders of the Trust. The registered office of the 
Trustee-Manager was located at 120 Robinson Road, #08-01, Singapore 068913 and is relocated to 9 Straits View #06-07 
Marina One West Tower Singapore 018937 with effect from 8 June 2022. The principal place of business of the Trustee-
Manager is located at 81A Clemenceau Avenue, #05-18, UE Square, Singapore 239918.

The principal activity of the Trust is investment holding of real estate and real estate related assets used primarily as 
business space in Asia and Australia. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Trust are set out in Note 10.

The Trust was admitted to the Official List of the Main Board of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) 
on 19 October 2012.

In the prior years, the Trust completed the disposal of its subsidiaries and associate in India, including its entire portfolio 
of clinical establishments and hospitals (the “Disposal of investment in subsidiaries and associate” or the “Disposal”). As 
the Trust has ceased to have any operating business and its assets consist wholly or substantially of cash, the Trust is now 
deemed to be a cash trust.

On 14 December 2022, the SGX-ST had advised that it has no objection to the Trustee Manager’s application for a 
seventh extension of time of 6 months to the previous extension of time for the 12-month period for RHT to meet the 
requirements for a new listing, before the SGX-ST proceeds to remove RHT from the Official List under Rule 1018(2) of 
the Listing Manual (“Fifth Extension of Time”), for the following reasons:

(a)	 Indian legal counsel had advised the Trustee-Manager that the Voluntary Winding Up should not be proceeded 
with in the current circumstances and it would not be in the interests of Unitholders, as a whole to do so;

(b)	 due  to the changes in circumstances as highlighted in the announcement of 28 November 2019, RHT will not in any 
case be in a position to make a fair and reasonable cash exit offer to the Unitholders under Rule 1309 of the Listing 
Manual;

(c)	 in view of the latest developments relating to the Contempt Proceedings and the matters currently being considered 
by the executing court pursuant to the 22 September 2022 Judgement, the Trustee-Manager will continue to closely 
monitor any further developments in respect of the Contempt Proceedings and matters ancillary thereto;

(d)	 the Trustee-Manager is hopeful of being in a better position to make a more informed decision on whether 
to proceed with the Voluntary Winding Up after further developments or material milestones in respect of the 
Contempt Proceedings, depending on the outcome thereof; and

(e)	 once there is clarity from the Supreme Court of India (“Court”) and in the absence of any other extenuating 
circumstances, such as any discussions or negotiations on the injection of a suitable business into RHT, the Trustee-
Manager intends to reconvene the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) for the proposed Voluntary Winding Up.

The sixth extension of time was due to expire on 15 January 2023. As it was uncertain that the Contempt Proceedings will 
be resolved prior thereto, the Trustee-Manager had applied to SGX-ST for a further extension of time of 6 months. On 20 
December 2022, the seventh extension of time up to 15 July 2023 was granted by SGX.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

All financial information is presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) and has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
($’000), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the Group and the Trust have been prepared on a going concern basis because the Trustee-
Manager is still open to discussions or negotiations on the injection of a suitable business into the Trust. In addition, the 
Trustee-Manager is of the view that it is likely to take some time to conclude the Contempt Proceedings (as disclosed in 
Note 25).

As at 31 March 2023, the financial statements of Trust have been prepared on a going concern basis, notwithstanding that 
the Trust was in net current liabilities of $279,835,000 (2022: $279,946,000) and net liabilities position of $$267,201,000 
(2022: $267,312,000). The subsidiaries maintain adequate cash and retained earnings and the Trust has the right to call 
upon dividends from the subsidiaries. The Group is in net current assets and net assets position of $$15,173,000 (2022: 
$15,667,000).

2.2	 New accounting standards effective on 1 April 2022

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current financial 
year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial periods beginning 
on 1 April 2022. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or 
position of the Group.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2	 New accounting standards effective on 1 April 2022 (cont’d)

Standards, Amendments and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description
Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contract 1 January 2023

Amendments to IFRS 116 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Date to be determined

The directors expect that the adoption of the abovementioned standards will not have a material impact on the financial 
statements in the year of initial application.

2.3	 Basis of consolidation and business combination

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 
2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an 
investee if and only if the Group has:

-	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

-	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
-	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3	 Basis of consolidation and business combination (cont’d)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when 
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

-	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
-	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
-	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the 
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) are attributed to the Unitholders of the Trust. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If 
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

-	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date 
when control is lost;

-	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
-	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
-	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
-	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
-	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
-	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or 

loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related 
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3	 Basis of consolidation and business combination (cont’d)

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), 
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of 
liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition 
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another IFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 
to the Group’s Cash-Generating Units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that CGU is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the 
operations disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.

The CGU to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication 
that the CGU may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each 
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates.

Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest 
method.

Pursuant to this:

-	 Assets and liabilities are reflected at their existing carrying amounts;
-	 No amount is recognised for goodwill; and
-	 Any difference between the consideration paid by the Trust and the share capital of the subsidiary will be reflected 

within the equity of the Group as capital reserve.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4	 Foreign currency

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Trust’s functional 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and has 
elected to recycle the gain or loss that arises from using this method.

(a)	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Trust and its subsidiaries 
and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling 
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of 
the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	 Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purposes, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Singapore Dollars at the 
rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.5	 Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. 
An asset is current when it is:

-	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
-	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
-	 Expected to be realised within twelve months after reporting period; or
-	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchange or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

-	 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
-	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
-	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after reporting period; or
-	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period.

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in it settlement by the issue of equity 
instruments do not affect its classification.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

2.6	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously revalued 
where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.6	 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount 
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised 
in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

2.7	 Financial instruments

(a)	 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of a 
third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The measurement category for classification of debt 
instruments is at amortised cost. Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.7	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b)	 Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement - Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit 
or loss.

2.8	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective 
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements 
that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt financial assets carried at amortised cost. 
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.9	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short- term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
These include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Fixed deposits with banks with 
original maturity for less than three months are considered as cash and cash equivalents. Pledged fixed deposits do not 
form part of cash and cash equivalents.

2.10	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.11	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing cost commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds.

2.12	 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service 
to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may 
be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied 
performance obligation.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.13	 Taxes

(i)	 Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and 
generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject 
to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(ii)	 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

		  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

•	 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised 
except:

•	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred income 
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.13	 Taxes (cont’d)

(ii)	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

(iii)	 Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

•	 When the GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, 
as applicable; and

•	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

2.14	 Unitholders’ funds

Unitholders’ funds represent the Unitholders’ residual interest in the Group’s net assets.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of units are recognised as a deduction from Unitholders’ funds.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.15	 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a)	 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

(b)	 a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i)	 It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; or

(ii)	 The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

2.16	 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee.

In the Trust’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment losses.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the end of reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future 
periods.

(a)	 Income tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses 
during the estimation of the provision for income tax. There are also claims for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group and the Trust recognises liabilities for expected tax 
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Contingent Liabilities

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations in the jurisdictions in which the 
Group operates and the amount and timing of future tax consequences. Given the span of tax regulations which may 
apply to the various taxable entities within the Group, the cross-border and long-term nature and the conditions to 
the tax rulings, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such 
assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to contingent liabilities or require new or additional tax provisions 
to be recorded. The Group establishes provisions and contingent liabilities based on reasonable estimates reached 
by the Trustee-Manager and their tax advisors, for anticipated tax liabilities or possible consequences of audits by 
the tax authorities of the respective jurisdictions in which it operates. The amount of such provisions and contingent 
liabilities is based on interpretations of tax regulations between the taxable entity involved and the relevant tax 
authorities.

4.	 TRUSTEE-MANAGER FEES

Group

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Trustee fees 90 90

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee-Manager is entitled to the following:

	 Management fees

Base fee

The Base fee (the “Base fee”) is 0.4% (2022: 0.4%) per annum of the value of the trust property of the Trust pursuant to 
the Trust Deed.

Trust property has the meaning ascribed to it in the Business Trust Act.

Performance fee

The Performance fee (“Performance fee”) is 4.5% (2022: 4.5%) per annum of Distributable Income of the Group pursuant 
to the Trust Deed for the relevant financial year.

There is no base fee and performance fee charged by the Trustee-Manager subsequent to the Disposal.
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4.	 TRUSTEE-MANAGER FEES (CONT’D)

	 Trustee fees

The Trustee fee is 0.03% (2022: 0.03%) per annum of the value of the trust property of the Trust, subject to a minimum of 
$15,000 (2022: $15,000) per month, excluding out-of-pocket expenses.

Trust property has the meaning ascribed to it in the Business Trust Act.

Arising from the request of the Unitholders at the last EGM held on 3 December 2019, the Board of Directors of the 
Trustee-Manager had sought approval from the sole shareholder of the Trustee-Manager to waive some of the Trustee 
Fee. The sole shareholder of the Trustee- Manager agreed to waive 50% of its entitlement to the Trustee Fee under the 
terms of the Trust Deed, with effect from 3 December 2019 until 31 March 2023 or the date on which the Court disposes 
of the Contempt Proceedings (Note 25), whichever is earlier.

5.	 FINANCE INCOME

Group

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Interest income from fixed deposits 226 33

6.	 FINANCE EXPENSES

Group

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Bank charges 29 3
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7.	 LOSS BEFORE TAXES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before taxes from continuing operations:

Group

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Audit fees paid to:

Auditor of the Trust 57 78

Non-audit fees paid to:

Auditor of the Trust 17 17

Other auditors 10 4

Legal and other professional fees 301 342

8.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT

	 Major components of income tax credit

Group
2023 2022
$’000 $’000

Consolidated profit or loss:

Current income tax
Continuing operations:
-	 Overprovision in previous year - (4)

Income tax credit recognised in profit and loss - (4)
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8.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONT’D)

	 Relationship between tax credit and accounting loss

The reconciliation between tax credit and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate 
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Group

2023 2022
$’000 $’000

Loss before tax (494) (633)

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits  
in the countries where the Group operates (84) (108)

Adjustments:
Income not subject to taxation - (6)
Non-deductible expenses 84 114
Over-provision in previous year - (4)

Tax income recognised in profit or loss - (4)

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, domestic tax rate of Singapore was at 17%.

9.	 EARNINGS PER UNIT

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per unit is based on the weighted average number of units outstanding 
during the financial year and loss after taxes attributable to the Unitholders of the Trust.

Group

2023 2022

Loss for the financial year attributable to Unitholders of the Trust ($’000) (494) (629)

Weighted average number of units during the financial year (‘000) 811,403 811,403

Basic and diluted earnings per unit (in cents per unit) (0.06) (0.08)

Diluted earnings per unit is the same as the basic loss per unit as there are no dilutive instruments in issue during the 
financial year.
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10.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Trust

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Investments, unquoted equity shares at cost 12,634 12,634

The Group has the following significant investments in subsidiaries.

Name Principal activities
Country of 

incorporation
Proportion (%) of  

ownership interest
2023 2022

Held by the Trust

(1) THR Infrastructure Pte. Ltd. 
(“THRIPL”)

Provision of consultancy and 
management services and 
that of an investment holding 
company

Singapore 100 100

(1) THR Services Pte. Ltd. (“THRSPL”) Provision of consultancy and 
management services and 
that of an investment holding 
company

Singapore 100 100

	 (1)	 Audited by Ernst & Young LLP.

11.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group Trust

2023 2022 2023 2022
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest receivables 2 4 1 2

	 Expected credit losses

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group and the Trust have assessed that the expected credit losses for 
financial assets to be immaterial. Please refer to the Group and the Trust’s credit risk policy detailed in Note 21(a).
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12.	 DEFERRED TAX

	 Unrecognised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances

As the subsidiaries became investment holding entity subsequent to the Disposal of the entire assets, as at 31 March 
2023 and 31 March 2022, no tax losses will be allowed to offset against future taxable profits of the entities in which the 
losses arose.

	 Tax consequences of proposed distributions

In 2023, there are no distributions to the Unitholders proposed by the Trust.

13.	 OTHER ASSETS 

Group Trust

2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales tax receivables 165 161 165 161

Prepayments 62 61 55 55

227 222 220 216

14.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Trust

2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank 3,163 438 29 311

Short-term deposits 10,365 16,461 12,955 13,009

Cash and cash equivalents 13,528 16,899 12,984 13,320

Restricted cash 2,993 – – –

Cash and bank balances 16,521 16,899 12,984 13,320

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one day and three months and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. The weighted 
average effective interest rates as at 31 March 2023 for the Group and the Trust ranged between 0.10% to 3.81% (2022: 
0.08% to 0.35%).

Restricted cash is related to a banker guarantee issued by the banker to India Tax Authority for the proceedings before 
the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal of India in relation to the objections on Tax Treatment which disclosed in Note 24(b).
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15.	 OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Trust

2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts due to subsidiaries – – 292,217 292,313

Amounts due to related party – 94 – 94

Accrued operating expenses 1,551 1,362 798 1,077

Others 26 2 25 –

1,577 1,458 293,040 293,484

	 Amounts due to subsidiaries

Amounts due to subsidiaries are non-trade, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

	 Amount due to a related party

Amount due to a related party is non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

16.	 UNITS IN ISSUE

Group and Trust

2023 2022

No. of 
issued units

‘000 $’000

No. of 
issued units

‘000 $’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary units:

At 1 April and 31 March 811,403 522,247 811,403 522,247

The Unitholders are entitled to receive distributions as and when declared by the Trust. All units carry one vote per unit 
without restrictions. The units have no par value.
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17.	 CAPITAL RESERVES

FHL transferred businesses to Kanishka Healthcare Limited (“KHL”) and Fortis Health Management Limited (“FHML”) at 
below fair value. The capital reserve amounting to $210,216,000 (2022: $210,216,000) of capital reserve represented 
the excess of interest of FHML and KHL in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred over the 
consideration. This reserve in substance represents FHL’s contribution to the Group for its retained interest.

18.	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant 
transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial 
year:

I.	 Trustee-Manager’s fees

The details of Trustee-Manager fees are shown in Note 4 to the financial statements.

II.	 Sale and purchase of goods and services

Group

2023 2022

$’000 $’000

Trustee-Manager fee paid to the Trustee-Manager 90 90

19.	 LEASES

	 Group as a lessee under IFRS 16

For  the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Group does not have any lease agreement nor applied the exemption 
under IFRS 16 for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

	 Operating lease commitments – as lessee under IAS 17

There was no future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable leases as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.
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20.	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)	 Fair value hierarchy

The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation inputs 
used as follows:

•	 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can 
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same level 
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

There has been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 
and 31 March 2022.

(b)	 Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value

Financial assets (Note 11), cash and cash equivalents (Note 14) and other liabilities (Note 15).

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values due to 
their short-term nature.
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21.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group and the Trust are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The 
key financial risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager reviews and agrees 
policies and procedures for the management of these risks.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Trust’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks 
and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 
its obligations. The Group and the Trust’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from other receivables. The Group 
and the Trust minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group and the Trust considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. Receivable 
balances are monitored on an on- going basis with results that the Group and the Trust’s exposure to bad debts is 
not significant.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Trust’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised on the balance sheet.

Financial assets, other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents

For other financial assets, the Group and the Trust minimises credit risk by dealing with counterparties which have 
a good credit rating. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 
assets on the balance sheet.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment record with the 
Group and the Trust. Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets are subject to immaterial credit losses. 
The Group and the Trust are not subject to significant concentration of credit risk. Cash is placed with financial 
institution which are regulated and reputable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by carrying 
amount of each class of financial assets in the balance sheets.

(b)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of 
funds. Subsequent to the disposal of entire portfolio in prior year, the Group and the Trust are currently at net cash 
position.

The Trust’s exposure to liquidity arises primarily from mismatch of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 
The Trust is currently at net current liabilities of $279,835,000 and net liabilities of $267,201,000. Upon demand, the 
Trust has the right to call upon dividends from the subsidiaries to settle the financial liabilities.
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21.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Trust’s financial liabilities at the reporting 
date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Within
1 year

2 - 5
years

More than  
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2023

Other liabilities 1,577 – – 1,577

2022

Other liabilities 1,458 – – 1,458

Trust

2023

Other liabilities 293,040 – – 293,040

2022

Other liabilities 293,484 – – 293,484

(c)	 Classification of financial instruments

Set out below is a comparison by category of all the Group’s and the Trust’s financial instruments that are carried 
out in the financial statements.

Group Trust

2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other receivables 2 4 1 2

Cash and cash equivalents 13,528 16,899 12,984 13,320

Restricted Cash 2,993 – - –

Financial assets at amortised cost 16,523 16,903 12,985 13,322

Other liabilities representing financial  
liabilities at amortised cost (1,577) (1,458) (293,040) (293,484) 

Total net undiscounted financial  
assets/(liabilities) 14,946 15,445 (280,055) (280,162) 
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22.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Subsequent to the disposal, the Trust ceased to have any operating business and its assets consist wholly or substantially 
of cash, the Trust is now deemed to be a cash trust.

23.	 DISTRIBUTIONS

No distribution was declared for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

24.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITY 

(a)	 Contingent liabilities on withholding taxes

Expenses related to the termination of loan and swap arrangements (“Termination Fees”) paid to an Indian tax 
resident bank might be subjected to withholding tax. Termination Fees comprise of the following fees: structuring 
fees, prepayment fee, loss of profit, net swap payments, swap loss compensation and break funding fee. The Group 
had sought the opinion of tax professional and filed with the tax authority on the identifiable interest expense 
under Voluntary Disclosure Programme. On 11 May 2023, the tax authority has reviewed and provided an update 
to the Group on the status of its assessment of the withholding tax treatment on Termination Fees. The tax authority 
agreed that withholding tax should not be applicable on structuring fees but upheld its decision that tax should 
be withheld on prepayment fee and loss of profits. The Group estimated the withholding tax payable on the 
prepayment fee and loss of profit to be $182,000. This was computed at a withholding tax rate of 10%, on the basis 
that the Singapore-India tax treaty withholding tax rate should apply and applying a maximum penalty rate of 20%.  

As the tax authority has yet to finalise its assessment of tax treatment on the remaining fees, the Group is exposed 
to potential withholding tax liabilities. Based on the opinion of the tax professional, a conservative potential tax 
liability has been estimated to be approximately $671,000 (2022: $960,000).  

(b)	 Contingent liability on capital gains

i.	 Contingent liabilities on impact on tax treatment adopted in respect to capital gains recognised in financial 
year ended 2017

India tax authorities had issued a draft assessment order to THR Infrastructure Pte. Ltd (“THRIPL”) on 30 
September 2021 wherein they have denied the capital gains tax exemption under the India-Singapore Double 
Taxation Avoidance Agreement (“DTAA”) claimed by THRIPL on account of partial disposal of Compulsorily 
Convertible Debentures (“CCDs”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (“Draft Assessment Order”). 
THRIPL had subsequently filed objections against the Draft Assessment Order on 29 October 2021 
(“Objections”). Nonetheless, following the filing of Objections, THRIPL has sought a second opinion from 
another tax consultant (the “Tax Adviser”) on the Draft Assessment Order, including on the nature of tax issue 
involved, the current tax treatment adopted by THRIPL and the likelihood that the India tax authorities will 
accept such tax treatment with respect to the capital gains exemption claimed under the India-Singapore 
DTAA on account of the capital gains arising from disposal of CCD (“Tax Advice”).
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24.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITY (CONT’D)

(b)	 Contingent liability on capital gains (cont’d)

i.	 Contingent liabilities on impact on tax treatment adopted in respect to capital gains recognised in financial 
year ended 2017 (cont’d)

The matter had been heard by the Dispute Resolution Panel which had issued its directions through an 
order date 16 June 2022 (“DRP Directions”). Pursuant to the DRP Directions, the Objections filed before the 
Dispute Resolution Panel were largely unsuccessful, save that Dispute Resolution Panel had directed that the 
transaction shall be taxed as income from “capital gains”, and not as “income from other income sources” as 
set out in the Draft Assessment Order.

The final order pronounced by Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (“ITAT”) ruling on 12 May 2023 stated the matter 
has been in the THRIPL’s favour. Based on the Tax Advice received by THRIPL, the Tax Adviser’s view is that 
despite the order is in favour of the THRIPL, the revenue authority can appeal the ITAT order within a period 
of 120 days from date of receipt of the said order (i.e. up to 9 Sept 2023). No taxes are required to be paid by 
THRIPL even in case revenue authorities file an appeal before High Court. In this regard, an order giving effect 
to ITAT order needs to be passed by tax authorities. The order should have strong persuasive value for future 
years in which tax treaty claim has been made by client subject to fulfilment of treaty eligibility conditions such 
as obtaining tax residency certificate, satisfaction of Limitation of Benefits (“LOB”) clause etc.

The potential tax liability to the Group should the current tax treatment being appealed by the revenue 
authority with the result of not be accepted by the higher appellate authorities will be approximately INR2,364 
million (approximately $42 million) including interest, assuming the income arising from transfer of CCDs are 
taxed as “Capital Gains”.

ii.	 Impact on tax treatment adopted in respect to capital gain recognised in financial year ended 2019

Considering the assessment order for the financial year ended 31 March 2017, THRIPL has re-evaluated the 
sale of the investments during the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and its claim for exemption from 
capital gains in accordance with the provisions of the DTAA. It is noted that the assessment order for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2017 should have strong persuasive value for future years in which tax treaty 
claim has been made by client/ taxpayer subject to fulfilment of treaty eligibility conditions. Based on the tax 
advice received by THRIPL, more likely than not the tax position with respect to capital gains exemption under 
the DTAA on account of sale of investments is sustainable as per Indian tax laws, provisions of the DTAA and 
available judicial arguments highlighted in the Tax Advice. The India tax return filed for the said year is yet to 
be audited by Indian tax authorities and currently there is no notice issued by Indian tax authorities initiating 
an audit of tax position adopted by THRIPL.

The potential tax liability to the Group should the current tax treatment not be accepted by the higher 
appellate authorities will be approximately INR4,005 million (approximately SGD72 million) including interest, 
assuming the income arising from transfer of CCDs are taxed as “Capital Gains”.
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25.	 OTHER MATTERS

Voluntary disclosure – Contempt Proceeding 

On 8 November 2019, the Trustee-Manager announced that it would be convening an Extraordinary General Meeting 
(“EGM”) on 3 December 2019 to seek the approval of Unitholders for the proposed voluntary winding up of RHT 
(“Voluntary Winding Up”) under Section 45(1) of the Business Trusts Act and the Trust Deed of RHT.

Subsequently, a judgement of the Supreme Court of India (“Court”) dated 15 November 2019 in the matter of Vinay 
Prakash Singh v. Sameer Gehlaut & Others, Contempt Petition (Civil) No. 2120 of 2018 in Special Leave Petition (Civil) 
No. 20417 of 2017 (“Contempt Proceedings” and the judgement, “Judgement”) was brought to the Trustee-Manager’s 
attention. As part of the Judgement, the Court issued a notice of contempt to Fortis Healthcare Limited (“Fortis”).

The Judgement further stated that the Disposal “is a matter which is required to be gone into”, and that the Court is prima 
facie of the view that certain transactions (including the completion of the Disposal by Fortis) is in wilful disobedience of 
the Court’s order dated 14 December 2018 read in conjunction with certain earlier orders.

In view of the Judgement, the Trustee-Manager sought independent legal advice from Indian legal counsel on the impact 
of the Judgement to RHT.

In summary, Indian legal counsel advised the Trustee-Manager that while RHT is neither a party to the Contempt 
Proceedings nor has it been made an alleged contemnor thereunder, the EGM and the Voluntary Winding Up, and the 
distribution(s) to Unitholders referred to in the circular to Unitholders dated 8 November 2019, should not be proceeded 
with in the current circumstances as doing so may be viewed as being contrary to the spirit of the Judgement as well as 
in defiance of the authority of the Court, exposing RHT to the risk of being joined in the Contempt Proceedings as an 
alleged contemnor, thereby resulting in RHT incurring additional costs and expenses, and potential liability.

On 25 November 2019, the Trustee-Manager had also received a request from Fortis requesting that: “the voluntary 
winding up process be immediately revoked (including but not limited to the revocation of notice for holding of the 
proposed EGM to approve the voluntary winding up) which shall be in the nature of a suspension of the voluntary 
winding up process, or the proposed EGM for the same be adjourned till the earlier of: (a) a clarification having been 
received from the Court to specifically allow for Trustee-Manager to proceed with the voluntary winding up process; or 
(b) the Court having disposed of the Contempt Proceedings”.

Having regard to:

(a)	 the advice from Indian legal counsel received by the Trustee-Manager on the Judgement;

(b)	 the request from a Unitholder that the EGM be adjourned; and

(c)	 the priority of the Trustee-Manager to preserve the assets of RHT in the interests of Unitholders as a whole,

The Trustee-Manager was of the view that it would have been in the interests of Unitholders to consider the adjournment 
of the EGM for the Voluntary Winding Up until such date and time when the Trustee-Manager is able to make an informed 
decision as to whether and how the proposed Voluntary Winding Up may be proceeded with.
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25.	 OTHER MATTERS (CONT’D)

Voluntary disclosure – Contempt Proceeding (cont’d)

In view of the uncertainty on the outcome of the Contempt Proceedings before the Court, and its impact on the proposed 
Voluntary Winding Up, and with a view to maintaining a fair, orderly and transparent market, trading in the units of RHT 
was voluntarily suspended on 28 November 2019.

On 3 December 2019, the resolution for the proposed adjournment of the EGM for the proposed Voluntary Winding Up 
was put to vote and was duly passed on an electronic poll vote. The EGM was adjourned until such later date and time 
when the Trustee-Manager is able to make an informed decision as to whether and how the proposed Voluntary Winding 
Up may be proceeded with.

The hearings in the Contempt Proceedings had taken place on various dates between 3 February 2020 and 18 October 
2022. Where appropriate, announcements had also been made during that period through SGXNet to keep unitholders 
updated on the developments of the Contempt Proceedings. As announced in the announcement dated 3 October 
2022, the judgement in respect of the Contempt Proceedings and other connected matters was pronounced by the 
Court on 22 September 2022 (the “September 2022 Judgement”) after considering the submissions made by the 
parties. In the September 2022 Judgement, certain matters were referred by the Court back to the executing court, i.e 
the High Court of Delhi (the “High Court”). These include directions that “the executing Court may also consider issuing 
appropriate process and appointing forensic auditors to analyse the transactions entered into between FHL and RHT and 
other related transactions”. The Court had also directed that it shall be open to the High Court to pass such directions as 
the facts and circumstances presented before it may justify.

There was a hearing on 18 October 2022 before the High Court to consider, amongst others, the appropriate process 
and appointment of forensic auditors to analyse the transactions entered into between Fortis, RHT and other related 
transactions (the “Forensic Audit Application”). The High Court had directed the award holder (i.e., Daiichi Sankyo 
Company Limited (“Daiichi Sankyo”)) to file an appropriate application setting out the details of the transactions which 
require a forensic audit. Hearings for the execution proceedings before the High Court in respect of the applications filed 
by Daiichi Sankyo (“Execution Proceedings”) had taken place from 6 December 2022 onwards.

As further set out in the announcement dated 29 May 2023, as at the date of such announcement, the status of the 
Contempt Proceedings remains unchanged and the applications and hearings thereof (including the Forensic Audit 
Application) have not been concluded. The matter (including the Forensic Audit Application) has been tentatively 
adjourned for further hearing on 14 July 2023.

As of the date of the financial statements, the Contempt Proceedings have not been concluded and the Trustee-Manager 
will continue to monitor matters leading up to and including the hearing for the Contempt Proceedings.
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26.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Subsequent to the Disposal in year 2019, the Trust was deemed to be a cash trust in Singapore and accordingly no 
segment information is being disclosed for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

27.	 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 30 May 2023, the Board of directors of the Trustee-Manager had resolved that the Trustee-Manager will not be 
seeking a further extension of time under Listing Rule 1018(2) of the Listing Manual to maintain its listing status. The 
Trustee-Manager had taken into consideration several factors, including that RHT has no intention of utilising the listing 
platform for any fundraising activities or the injection of new business, the costs of listing outweighing the benefits to 
unitholders as RHT continues to incur significant listing and other related compliance costs whilst the units are suspended 
and have been suspended since 28 November 2019, and the Trustee-Manager can continue to update unitholders on 
matters relating to RHT through the publication of announcements on its website. The Trustee-Manager believes that the 
costs savings generated would in the best interests of all the unitholders of RHT as a whole. 

Accordingly, the Trustee-Manager informed SGX-ST that it does not intend to apply for a further extension of time under 
Rule 1018(2) of the Listing Manual to maintain its listing status. The SGX-ST has directed that pursuant to Rule 1309(1) 
of the Listing Manual, RHT must provide a cash exit offer that must be fair and reasonable, and to make an immediate 
announcement of the latest developments and to make arrangements for the cash exit offer for the delisting which must 
comply with Rule 1309(1).

In view of the foregoing, the Trustee-Manager had updated the SGX-ST that, following consultation with RHT’s controlling 
unitholder, RHT will not be able to comply with Rule 1309(1) to provide a cash exit offer.

Subsequently, the SGX-ST had on 23 June 2023 issued RHT with a Notification of Delisting, and had asked the Trustee-
Manager to consider other modes of making an exit offer, including but not limited to distributing its net assets/cash 
attributable to unitholders or applying to the Singapore Court for the winding up/liquidation of RHT (“the Proposed 
Application”).

In view of the foregoing, the board of directors of the Trustee-Manager has resolved to proceed with the Proposed 
Application, pursuant to Section 46 of the Business Trust Act 2004 of Singapore.

28.	 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager on 07 July 2023.



RHT HEALTH TRUST
(Registration No. 2012006)
(A business trust constituted on 29 July 2011 under the laws of the Republic of Singapore and registered under the Business 
Trusts Act, Chapter 31A of Singapore)

Managed by RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. 
(Company Registration No. 201117555K)  

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the unitholders of RHT Health Trust (“RHT” and unitholders of 
RHT, “Unitholders”) will be held at Temasek Club, Grand Ballroom II, 131 Rifle Range Road, Singapore 588406, on Tuesday, 25 
July 2023 at 3:00 p.m. to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Report of the RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. (“Trustee-Manager”), the Statement by the 
Trustee-Manager and the Audited Financial Statements of RHT and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 
2023 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of RHT and to authorise the Trustee-Manager to fix their 
remuneration.					       

(Resolution 2)

3.	 To transact any other business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board 
RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. 
as Trustee-Manager of RHT Health Trust
(Company Registration No. 201117555K)

Abdul Jabbar Bin Karam Din
Sharon Yeoh
Joint Company Secretaries

Singapore, 10 July 2023

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS



Notes:

Format of Meeting

1. 	 The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) will be held, in a wholly physical format, at Temasek Club, Grand Ballroom II, 131 Rifle Range Road, Singapore 
588406 on Tuesday, 25 July 2023 at 3:00 p.m. Unitholders, including Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme investors (“CPFIS Investors”) and/or 
Supplementary Retirement Scheme investors (“SRS Investors”), and (where applicable) duly appointed proxies and representatives will be able to ask 
questions and vote at the AGM by attending the AGM in person. There will be no option for Unitholders to participate in the AGM virtually.

2. 	 All documents (including this Notice of AGM, the Report of the Trustee-Manager, the Statement by the Trustee-Manager and the Audited Financial 
Statements of RHT and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon and information relating to 
the AGM will be published on the SGX website at the URL www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and RHT’s corporate website at the URL www.
rhealthtrust.com. Printed copies of all these documents will be sent by post to Unitholders.

Submission of Questions in Advance of, or at, the AGM

3. 	 Unitholders, including CPFIS Investors and/or SRS Investors, may submit substantial and relevant questions in advance of, or at, the AGM.

4. 	 Unitholders, including CPFIS Investors and/or SRS Investors, may submit substantial and relevant questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for 
approval at the AGM to the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of the AGM. In order to do so, their questions must be submitted in the following manner 
by 5:00 p.m. on 17 July 2023 (the “Deadline”):

(a) 	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to RHT Investor Relations team at rht@rhealthtrust.com; or
(b) 	 if submitted by post, to the office of RHT’s Unit Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue #14-07 

Keppel Bay Tower Singapore 098632.

Unitholders who submit questions via email or by post must provide the following information:

(1)       the Unitholder’s full name;
(2)       the Unitholder’s address; and
(3)       the manner in which the Unitholder holds Units in RHT (e.g., via CDP or scrip).

5. 	 The Trustee-Manager will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant questions received from Unitholders by the Deadline by publishing its responses 
to such questions on the RHT’s corporate website at the URL www.rhealthtrust.com and the SGX website at the URL www.sgx.com/securities/company-
announcements no later than 48 hours prior to the closing date and time for the lodgement/receipt of instruments appointing proxy(ies) (the “Proxy Form”). 
The Trustee-Manager will respond to questions or follow-up questions submitted after the Deadline either within a reasonable timeframe before the AGM, 
or at the AGM itself. Where substantially similar questions are received, the Trustee-Manager will consolidate such questions and consequently not all 
questions may be individually addressed. The Trustee-Manager’s Chairman, Mr Tan Bong Lin, will conduct the proceedings of the AGM.

6.	  Unitholders, including CPFIS Investors and/or SRS Investors, and (where applicable) duly appointed proxies may also ask the Chairman of the AGM 
substantial and relevant questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM, at the AGM itself.

7. 	 The Trustee-Manager will publish the minutes of the AGM on RHT’s website and on SGXNET, and the minutes will include the responses to the substantial 
and relevant questions which are addressed during the AGM.

8. 	 A Unitholder who is not a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the 
AGM. A Unitholder which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote on its behalf.

	 Where such Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies, the proportion of his unitholding to be represented by each proxy shall be specified. If no proportion is 
specified, the Trustee-Manager shall be entitled to treat the first-named proxy as representing the entire number of units entered against his name in the 
Depository Register and any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named.

9. 	 A Unitholder who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but each proxy must be 
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different unit or units held by such Unitholder. Where such Unitholders appoint more than two (2) proxies, 
the number and class of units in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

	 “Relevant Intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967.

10. 	 A Unitholder who wishes to appoint a proxy(ies) must complete the Proxy Form, before submitting it in the manner set out below. The Proxy Form is available 
on RHT’s corporate website at the URL www.rhealthtrust.com and on the SGX website at the URL www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. 
Printed copies of the Proxy Form will be sent by post to Unitholders.

11.	  A proxy need not be a Unitholder of RHT.
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12. 	 If a Unitholder wishes to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, such Unitholder (whether individual or corporate) must give specific instructions as 
to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy. If no specific 
direction as to voting or abstentions from voting in respect of a resolution in the Proxy Form, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that 
resolution will be treated as invalid. The Chairman of the AGM, as proxy, need not be a Unitholder of RHT.

13. 	 A corporation which is a Unitholder may, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, by resolution of its directors or other 
governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the Unitholders and the person so authorised shall be 
entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were an individual.

14. 	 The Proxy Form, together with the power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed (if applicable) or a duly certified copy thereof, must be:

	 (a)	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to RHT’s Unit Registrar at AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com; or
	 (b) 	 if sent personally or by post, to the office of RHT’s Unit Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue #14-

07 Keppel Bay Tower Singapore 098632,

	 in either case, by 3:00 p.m. on 23 July 2023, being 48 hours before the time fixed for the AGM.

15.	 Unitholders are strongly encouraged to submit duly completed Proxy Forms electronically via email. If a Unitholder elects to submit duly completed 
proxy forms electronically via email, all subsequent correspondence with the Trustee-Manager in relation to the AGM shall be conducted via email, and sent 
to the same email address from which the Proxy Forms were submitted.

16. 	 The Proxy Form must be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a 
corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the Proxy Form is executed by an 
attorney on behalf of the appointer, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the 
Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

17. 	 In the case of a Unitholder whose units are entered in the Depositor Register, the Trustee-Manager may reject an instrument of proxy if the Unitholder, being 
the appointer, is not shown to have units entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, 
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to Trustee-Manager.

18. 	 Persons who hold units in RHT through Relevant Intermediaries, other than CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors, and who wish to participate in the AGM 
by (a) attending the AGM in person; (b) submitting questions to the Chairman of the AGM in advance of, or at, the AGM; and/or (c) voting at the AGM (i) 
themselves; or (ii) by appointing the Chairman as proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf at the AGM, should contact the relevant intermediary 
through which they hold such units as soon as possible in order to make the necessary arrangements for them to participate in the AGM.

CPFIS and SRS Investors

19. 	 CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM (and not third-party proxy(ies)) as proxy should approach their respective 
CPFIS Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 3:00 p.m. on 13 July 2023, being seven (7) working days prior to the date of the AGM.

20. 	 CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors should approach their respective CPFIS Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes at least seven (7) working 
days before the AGM (by 3:00 p.m. on 13 July 2023). CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors should contact their respective CPFIS Agent Banks or SRS Operators 
for any queries they may have with regard to their appointment of proxies for the AGM.

21.	 The Chairman of the AGM, as proxy, need not be a Unitholder of RHT.

22. 	 Please bring along your NRIC/passport so as to enable verification of your identity. Unitholders are requested to arrive early to facilitate the registration 
process and are advised not to attend the AGM if they are feeling unwell. Unitholders are strongly encouraged to exercise social responsibility to rest at 
home and consider appointing a proxy(ies) to attend the AGM. We encourage Unitholders to mask up when attending the AGM.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a Unitholder 
(i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the Unitholder’s personal data by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of 
the processing, administration and analysis by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM 
(including any adjournment thereof), the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or 
guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the Unitholder discloses the personal data of the Unitholder’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
to the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers), the Unitholder has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
collection, use and disclosure by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the Unitholder will indemnify the Trustee-Manager in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as 
a result of the Unitholder’s breach of warranty.
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RHT HEALTH TRUST
(Registration No. 2012006)
(A business trust constituted on 29 July 2011
under the laws of the Republic of Singapore)
Managed by RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd.
(Company Registration No. 201117555K)

PROXY FORM – 
ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING
(Before completing this form, 
please read the notes behind)

I/We,  (Name)

 (*NRIC / Passport / Co. Reg. No.)

of  (Address)
being a *Unitholder / Unitholders of RHT Health Trust (“RHT”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/ Passport No. Proportion of Unitholdings
No. of Shares %

*and/or

Name Address NRIC/ Passport No. Proportion of Unitholdings
No. of Shares %

or, both of whom failing, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting as *my / our proxy / proxies to attend and vote for *me 
/ us on *my / our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of RHT to be held at Temasek Club, Grand Ballroom II, 131 Rifle Range 
Road, Singapore 588406 on Tuesday, 25 July 2023 at 3.00 p.m. and any adjournment thereof in the following manner:

No. Resolutions For* Against* Abstain*

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. Adoption of Report of RHT Health Trust Manager Pte. Ltd. (“Trustee-
Manager”), the Statement by the Trustee-Manager and the Audited 
Financial Statements of RHT and its subsidiaries for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2023 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. 
(Resolution 1)

2. Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of RHT and to 
authorise the Trustee-Manager to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 
2)

*	 Please delete accordingly
Voting will be conducted by poll. Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” or “Abstain” with a “✓” within the box provided if you wish to exercise all your votes. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate. Where no such direction is given, the *proxy / proxies may vote or abstain from voting at *his / their 
discretion, as *he / they will on any matter arising at the Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions in respect of a resolution, the appointment of 
the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting as your proxy for that resolution will be at the Chairman’s discretion.

Dated this  day of  2023

Signature(s) of Unitholder(s) or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF

Total number of Units 
held in: No. of Units

CDP Register

Register of Unitholders

IMPORTANT
1.		 The Annual General Meeting will be held, in a wholly physical format, at Temasek Club, 

Grand Ballroom II, 131 Rifle Range Road, Singapore 588406 on Tuesday, 25 July 2023 at 3:00 
p.m.. There will be no option for unitholders to participate virtually. Unitholders and other 
attendees who are feeling unwell on the date of the Annual General Meeting are advised not 
to attend the Annual General Meeting.

2. 	 Please read the notes overleaf which contain instructions on, inter alia, the appointment of a 
proxy(ies).

3. 	 This proxy form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if 
used or purported to be used by CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors. CPFIS Investors and SRS 
Investors:
(a) 	may vote at the Annual General Meeting if they are appointed as proxies by their respective 

CPFIS Agent Banks or SRS Operators, and should contact their respective CPFIS Agent 
Banks or SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies; 
or

(b) 	may appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to vote on their behalf at the Annual 
General Meeting, in which case they should approach their respective CPFIS Agent 
Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 3:00 p.m. on 13 July 2023.

4. 	 By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the Unitholder 
accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting dated 10 July 2023.



IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES TO PROXY FORM BELOW

NOTES TO PROXY FORM:

1. 	 In accordance with the Business Trusts Act and the Trust Deed, a unitholder of RHT Health Trust (“RHT”, and a unitholder of RHT, “Unitholder”) entitled to 
attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting. Where such Unitholder’s form of proxy appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of the unitholding concerned to be represented by each 
proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy. Where a Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies and does not specify the number of Units to be represented by 
each proxy, the Units held by the Unitholder are deemed to be equally divided between the proxies.

2. 	 If the Unitholder has Units entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 
of Singapore) maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), he/she should insert that number of Units. If the Unitholder has Units registered 
in his/her/its name in the Register of Unitholders of RHT, he/she/it should insert that number of Units. If the Unitholder has Units entered against his/her/its 
name in the said Depository Register and Units registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Unitholders, he/she/it should insert the aggregate number 
of Units entered against his/her/its name in the said Depository Register and registered in his/her/its name in the Register of Unitholders. If no number is 
inserted, this form of proxy appointing a proxy or proxies will be deemed to relate to all the Units held by the Unitholder.

3. 	 (a) 	 A unitholder who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. Where such 
unitholder’s instrument appointing a proxy(ies) appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of the unitholding concerned to be represented 
by each proxy shall be specified in the instrument.

	 (b) 	 A unitholder who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but each proxy 
must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different unit or units held by such unitholder. Where such unitholder’s instrument appointing 
a proxy(ies) appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of units in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified 
in the instrument.

	 “relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.
	
4. 	 A Unitholder can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy, but this is not mandatory.

5. 	 A proxy need not be a Unitholder.

6. 	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (the “Proxy Form”) must be in writing must be under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or 
attorney duly authorised. Where the Proxy Form is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointer, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified 
copy thereof must be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

7. 	 A corporation which is a Unitholder may, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, by resolution of its directors or other governing body 
authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of Unitholders and the person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise 
the power on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were an individual. The Trustee-Manager shall be 
entitled to treat a copy of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation to be a true copy, or a certificate under the seal of the corporation as 
conclusive evidence of the appointment or revocation of appointment of a representative under this paragraph.

8. 	 The Proxy Form, together with the power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed (if applicable) or a duly certified copy thereof, must be:

	 (a) 	 if sent personally or by post, to the office of RHT’s Unit Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue #14-
07 Keppel Bay Tower Singapore 098632; or

	 (b) 	 if submitted electronically, via email to RHT’s Unit Registrar at AGM.TeamE@boardroomlimited.com,

	 in either case, by 3:00 p.m. on 23 July 2023, being 48 hours before the time fixed for the AGM, and in default, the Proxy Form shall not be treated as valid.

9. 	 Completion and submission of the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) by a Unitholder will not prevent him/her/it from attending, speaking and voting at 
the AGM if he/she/it so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the AGM will be deemed to be revoked if the Unitholder attends the AGM in person 
and in such event, the Trustee-Manager reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a 
proxy(ies) to the AGM.

10.	 Any alteration made to this Proxy Form should be initialled by the person who signs it.

11. 	 The Trustee-Manager shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of 
Unitholders whose Units are entered in the Depository Register, the Trustee-Manager shall be entitled and bound:

	 (a) 	 to reject any Proxy Form if the Unitholder, being the appointor, is not shown to have Units entered against the name of the Unitholder in the 
Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by CDP to the Trustee-Manager; and

	 (b) 	 to accept as the maximum number of votes which in aggregate the proxy or proxies appointed by the Unitholder is or are able to cast on a poll 
a number which is the number of Units entered against the name of that Unitholder in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time of 
appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by CDP to the Trustee-Manager, whether that number is greater or smaller than the number specified 
in any instrument of proxy executed by or on behalf of that Unitholder. No instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after the expiration of 12 
months from the date named in it as the date of its execution.

12. All Unitholders will be bound by the outcome of the AGM regardless of whether they have attended or voted at the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a Unitholder 
(i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the Unitholder’s personal data by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of 
the processing, administration and analysis by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM 
(including any adjournment thereof), the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or 
guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the Unitholder discloses the personal data of the Unitholder’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
to the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers), the Unitholder has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
collection, use and disclosure by the Trustee-Manager (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the Unitholder will indemnify the Trustee-Manager in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as 
a result of the Unitholder’s breach of warranty.
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